SID J. WHITE OCT 29 1990 PLERK, SUBREME QUIRT By Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND KENDRICK and SUSIE KENDRICK,

į

Petitioners,

vs.

Supreme Court Docket No. 76,114 DCA Docket No. 89-2198

ED'S BEACH SERVICE, INC., et al.,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

> ROBERT B. STAATS Florida Bar No. 076913 STAATS, OVERSTREET, WHITE & CLARKE 229 McKenzie Avenue Panama City, Florida 32401 (904) 785-1522 ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Brief is submitted on behalf of the Petitioners, RAYMOND KENDRICK and SUSIE KENDRICK who were the Plaintiffs below. The Petitioners will be referred to throughout this Brief as MR. and MRS. KENDRICK. The Respondent, ED'S BEACH SERVICE, INC., was one of the Defendants below, and will be referred to throughout this Brief as EBS. Since the Transcript of the testimony and the Transcript of the depositions has been included in the Record on Appeal, the symbol "R" will be used when referring to the Record on Appeal and to the Transcript of testimony. We will use the symbol "Ap" when referring to the Appendix to this Brief. When referring to the other Defendants collectively, we will use the word "Edgewater".

STATEMENT OF CASE

This action was commenced on June 30, 1986, when a Complaint was filed in Bay County Circuit Court seeking damages for personal injuries which resulted from a swimming pool diving incident which had occurred July 30, 1985. (R 768-775) Several persons were named as Defendants, including the owners of the swimming pool, Edgewater, at which MR. KENDRICK had been injured; the corporation in charge of managing the swimming pool, as well as the condominium complex; the builders and the designers of the swimming pool; and EBS, which had contracted with the owner/manager to provide lifeguard services. (R 769) It was alleged by the KENDRICKS, who were business invitees at the time, that MR. KENDRICK entered the swimming pool, which was dangerously shallow, as a result of which he struck the bottom of the pool and sustained severe and permanent injuries. (R 771)

The Complaint alleged that the various Defendants were jointly and/or concurrently negligent in that they:

Failed to construct the pool so that it a. was deep enough. Constructed the pool so that the deep b. area was far removed from the area in which the Plaintiff entered the pool. Failed to make any clear separation c. between the shallow end and the deep end of the pool. Failed to provide adequate depth markers. d. Failed to provide signs warning of the e. hazards of entering the pool.

f. Failed to provide lifeguards to warn of the hazards of diving into the swimming pool.
g. Failed to adequately supervise or train the lifeguards.
h. Failed to provide a sufficient number of lifeguards.
i. Designed the pool in such a manner that MR. KENDRICK was not aware that it was unsafe to enter the pool at the place and in the manner that he did. (R 771-773)

All of the Defendants filed their Answer and Defenses in which they set up two affirmative defenses: (a) comparative negligence, and (b) assumption of risk. (R 797, 818-820)

EBS, then on October 10, 1988, filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. It is apparent from the reading of that Motion that EBS argued that KENDRICK'S claim was barred because of the operation of the doctrine of express assumption of risk. Various Affidavits (R 832-846; 847-850; 857-922) (R 822-823) filed, and together with several depositions (R were then 1-767) were before the Trial Court on May 9, 1989, when the Circuit Judge entered his Order granting the summary judgment That Order was made final and in favor of EBS. (R 994) therefore appealable when the Court denied the Motion for Rehearing and entered a Summary Final Judgment in favor of EBS. (R 1022)

The Order dated July 24, 1989, which the Trial Judge entered, provided:

"A Summary Final Judgment . . . in favor of the Defendant, Ed's Beach Service, Inc., and against the Plaintiffs, Raymond Kendrick and Susie Kendrick, and the Plaintiffs shall go hence without day." (R 1022)

was the subject matter of the appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. (R 1027)

The First District Court of Appeal entered its Opinion dated April 3, 1990, (Ap p.1-2) in which it affirmed Summary Judgment in favor of EBS. This Opinion adopted the rationale of Justice McDonald in his dissent to this Court's Opinion in the case of <u>Mazzeo v. City of Sebastian</u>, 550 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 1989) and ignored the holding of the majority. Jurisdictional conflict was thereby created, and this Brief is submitted by the Petitioners to resolve that conflict.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. FACTUAL SUMMARY:

Edgewater Beach Resort is a condominium complex located in Bay County, Florida. It contains a swimming pool for use by its patrons. (R 768-775) Edgewater contracted with EBS to provide lifeguard services at the pool. By agreeing to perform these lifeguard services, EBS assumed a duty specifically to enforce the rules and regulations against diving, (R 456) undertook the duty to supervise and train its lifeguards to protect the health and safety of all users of the swimming pool, undertook the duty to provide three lifeguards, at least one of whom would man the lifeguard chairs at all times, (R 411; 456) to enforce the no-diving regulation to insure that the users of the pool were made aware of the dangers of diving and to insure that the users of the pool were prohibited from diving. (R400-401; 410; 465)

On July 30, 1985, at about 4:30 p.m. MR. KENDRICK climbed onto one of the lifeguard chairs. (R 864; 861; 90) There were no signs which warned of the dangers of diving into the pool. (R 115; 864; 865; 861-862) There were no lifeguards present. (R 864; 43-44; 105-106; 197) He stood in the chair approximately a minute and a half (R 48), and was observed by numerous people (R 159; 109-110; 253; 186; 276; 354; 327), except the lifeguards. He attempted a shallow dive into the pool towards his friend. Because of the location of the

lifeguard chair, and because he thought his friend was treading water, MR. KENDRICK assumed that he was diving into six feet of water. (R 48) MR. KENDRICK did not know it, because of his lack of familiarity with the pool and because of inadequate depth markers and warning signs, but the water into which he dove was only 3-1/2 feet deep. (R 37; 44-45; 48) Most observers thought he had safely executed the shallow dive. (R 109-110; 161; 334; 276) He did not. His head struck the bottom of the pool, his neck was broken, and he was rendered a quadriplegic.

II. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL AS TO PLAINTIFF'S STATUS AS BUSINESS INVITEE:

The KENDRICKS alleged in their Complaint that they were business invitees. (R 770) EBS in its Answer, denied this allegation. (R 818-820) Every member of the KENDRICK party, including MR. and MRS. KENDRICK, Mr. and Mrs. Bellow, Geraldine Guidroz, Brenda Guidroz, Bridgett Macalose, as well as other guests, Susan Mazer and her son, Stephen Mazer, Ruth Colbert and her sister, Martha Peace, all agreed that MR. KENDRICK was a registered and paying guest at Edgewater from July 27, 1985 through July 30, 1985. As guests, they were entitled to use the pool facility. In addition, at the April 27, 1989, hearing, EBS finally admitted that MR. KENDRICK was a business invitee. (See Page 7 of April 27, 1989, hearing Transcript.)

III. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL WHICH RELATE TO THE DUTIES ASSUMED BY EBS TO ALL BUSINESS INVITEES:

Some time prior to July 30, 1985, EBS, through its President, Ed Hickey, and Edgewater, through its President, Tom Creekmore, met and concluded the arrangements under which EBS would provide lifequard services at the swimming pool in (R 456) EBS was not paid to perform those services, question. but in fact paid Edgewater either \$5,000.00 (R 456) or \$2,500.00 (R 406) annually, for the privilege of being able to sell its suntan oil and other products at the beach at Edgewater, and at the pool at Edgewater. In addition to the money paid for that privilege, EBS was to provide lifeguard services at the pool. (R 456) According to Mr. Creekmore, EBS was to provide lifeguards between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., one of whom would be stationed in one of the lifequard chairs. (R 456) Mr. Hickey stated that EBS was responsible to provide three lifeguards. (R 411) One of those lifequards was to do nothing but sit in the lifeguard chair to enforce pool regulations. (R 400-401) Although Edgewater was to formulate rules for the use of the pool, and was responsible for posting the necessary signs (R 464-465), both Mr. Creekmore and Mr. Hickey agreed that it was the responsibility of EBS, through its lifeguards, to enforce those rules concerning the patrons' use of the pool. (R 464-465; 410) Mr. Hickey, in fact, stated that the main regulation they were to enforce was to keep people off the "island", and to enforce the ban against

diving. (R 420, 424, 425)

In addition, the Florida Administrative Code 10D-5.111 imposes upon managers, and other attendants, such as lifeguards, the duty of supervising the pool for the benefit of and safety of those using the pool. Under that Code, lifeguards have the full authority, and responsibility, to enforce all rules and regulations. (R 596-603)

IV. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL AS IT RELATES TO TRAINING AND SUPERVISING OF LIFEGUARDS:

Mr. Creekmore, on behalf of Edgewater, made no inquiry as to the qualifications of the lifeguards, but left that responsibility entirely to EBS. (R 458) According to Mr. Hickey, their lifequards were considered qualified if they had the American Red Cross lifesaving certificate, or were in the process of securing one. (R 394) Any additional training and instruction was the sole responsibility of EBS. No further instructions were given as to matters pertaining to the health and safety of the users of the pool. Mr. Hickey and his company, EBS, gave instructions as to how to sell suntan oil and related beach products, such as t-shirts, sun visors and beach lounges. They also instructed lifequards how to keep the pool area clean. (R 416; 399-400) In fact, although EBS had agreed to pay one of the lifequards a flat salary to occupy the lifeguard chair (R 456; 400-401), it developed that all of the employees were in fact paid a commission or percentage of the

sales of suntan oil and related products. Mr. Hickey admitted that. (R 399-400) That fact was verified by Lisa Giles, one of the lifeguards on duty at the time MR. KENDRICK was injured. (R 864) She testified that she and all the other lifeguards were compensated strictly upon the basis of the sales of suntan oil and other products they sold. (R 865)

If, as Mr. Hickey testified, EBS was responsible for the enforcement of the rules and regulations, "especially the ban on diving", there was no evidence to indicate that EBS supervised their lifeguards to see that they were properly performing these duties. There is no doubt that there were two lifeguard chairs at the pool, across the pool from each other. (R 409; 941; 942) However, the person in charge of supervising the lifeguards was not sure how many chairs there were; in fact, Mr. Hickey testified at one point that there was only one chair. (R 419)

The security guard who investigated the incident the day it occurred, and filed his official incident report (R 861), noted that it was common knowledge that the lifeguards spent little time at the pool, and seldom occupied the lifeguard chairs, but could usually be found in the beach area, near the Tiki Hut, selling products. (R 862) Even EBS Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Hickey, noted that the lifeguards did not like to use the lifeguard chairs because it would ruin their suntans, and they stayed, therefore, on the beach near the Tiki Hut. (R 409) Despite this knowledge, EBS encouraged,

rather than discouraged, this conduct on the part of its lifeguards. Ms. Giles, an EBS lifeguard, testified that she was instructed by both Edgewater and EBS that they should not be sitting in the lifeguard chairs because they could not sell as much suntan oil and other products. They were specifically instructed to roam the beach and pool deck to find customers for their products. (R 865)

V. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL CONCERNING THE USE AND OCCUPANCY OF THE LIFEGUARD CHAIRS:

Plaintiff offered the testimony of Dr. George Lawniczak. Dr. Lawniczak was offered as an expert witness. There was no objection by the Defendant as to the use of Dr. Lawniczak's deposition or the use of his Affidavit in opposition to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Dr. George Lawniczak testified that had the lifequard occupied the lifequard chair, MR. KENDRICK never would have sustained the injuries complained of. (R 614-618) EBS knew that the lifeguards were not occupying these chairs. (R 409) In fact, the agents of EBS gave the lifeguards direct instructions not to sit in the chairs. (R 865) This, despite the fact that the agreement between EBS and Edgewater called for one lifequard to sell no products, and to be paid to do nothing but occupy the lifeguard chair to survey the use of the pool, and to enforce pool regulations. (R 456; 400-401) Not one witness ever saw a lifequard in the lifequard chair. Even

Mr. Hickey was aware of the fact that they did not usually sit in the chairs. (R 409) Lisa Giles testified that she was told not to sit in them, but to roam around. (R 865) The security guard seldom saw any lifeguards there. (R 862) Mr. Bellow (R 105-106), his wife, Sharon Bellow (R 266), Bridgett Macalose (R 245), Susan Mazer (R 197), her son, Stephen (R 276), Ruth Colbert (R 366), and her sister, Martha Peace (R 335), all of whom were guests at Edgewater on July 30, 1985, and who witnessed all, or part, of the incident in question, testified they had never seen a lifeguard in the lifeguard chair.

According to Dr. Lawniczak, the American Red Cross Manual provided that lifequards should guard against people, who were swimming pool patrons, diving from elevations. Α lifeguard chair is an elevation. (R 659) Additionally, the Record reflects that EBS had actual knowledge that pool patrons were using the lifeguard chairs in a dangerous or unsafe Lisa Giles was told by EBS that guests, particularly manner. young children, had been diving off the lifequard chairs. (R There was discussion shortly before this incident, about 865) removing the lifeguard chairs because they were dangerous. (R 865)

VI. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL CONCERNING THE EXISTENCE OF DEPTH MARKERS AND WARNING SIGNS

The Florida Administrative Code 10D-5, provides that in pools, such as this pool, where no diving is permitted, that

at a minimum there should be letters 4 inches high, every 25 feet around the deck of the pool, with the specific warning "NO DIVING". (R 601) Additionally, depth markers are required on the pool deck, and at a point at or above the water line. (R 596-597)

Dr. Lawniczak offered his uncontradicted opinion that had there been signs which warned that diving into the pool could result in paralysis, that MR. KENDRICK would probably not have made the dive which resulted in his injuries; that a sign, to be a sufficient warning, had to furnish enough information to allow the individual to make an informed decision. The depth markers observed by Dr. Lawniczak two years after the accident were not in conformity with Code. Those on the water side of the pool were half in and half out of the water (R 596-597), which causes distortion. There were no depth markers on the island toward which MR. KENDRICK was diving at the time of the incident. (R 595-597)

The Record is in conflict as to whether depth markers were present, and if so, where they were. Of all the witnesses who were called, only two, Mrs. Colbert and Mrs. Peace, recalled seeing the depth markers. And the ones they saw were on the water side, and not in the pool deck. (R 357, 370, 337, 338) Neither MR. or MRS. KENDRICK recalled seeing depth markers. (R 37; 170-171) Neither did Jimmy Bellow (R 101-102), his wife, Sharon (R 262-266), Bridgett Macalose (R

243), Susan Mazer (R 183), or her son, Stephen (R 278). If there were depth markers, they were not seen and observed by most of the eyewitnesses, and therefore, ineffective.

VII. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL CONCERNING MR. KENDRICK'S KNOWLEDGE OF THE EXISTENCE OF A DANGEROUS CONDITION

We believe the Record establishes in a n uncontradicted fashion that MR. KENDRICK did not know the depth of the water into which he dove. At the very least, there is a conflict in the evidence on this point. He did in fact dive into 3-1/2 feet of water while attempting a shallow dive, as a result of which he hit his head on the bottom of the pool, broke his neck, and was rendered a guadriplegic. (R 61; 592-594) The Defendant, EBS, argues that because the water was clear, because there were depth markings, because MR. KENDRICK acknowledged that it was dangerous to dive head first into 3 feet of water, that the danger was open and notorious, and he (See Transcript of April 27, 1989, Hearing, cannot recover. Pages 11-16) One witness testified that she told MR. KENDRICK that it would be dangerous to dive from the lifeguard chair. She did not know if MR. KENDRICK ever heard her (R 186) comment, and acknowledged that he made no comment in response, and did nothing to indicate that he had heard what she had (R 196) MR. KENDRICK testified that no one ever made said. any such statement to him. (R 50, 51, 70)

The water was clear. The depth of the water was only

3-1/2 feet where MR. KENDRICK dove. He dove toward the "island" where he believed the water was 6 feet or deeper. (R 48) Mrs. Mazer knew the water near the lifeguard chair was about 3-1/2 feet deep, because she had walked in the area, and the water came up somewhere above her waist. (R 183) She had no recollection of seeing depth markers. (R 183) She did believe that the water got deeper toward the island, which was the direction which MR. KENDRICK dove (R 183)

MR. KENDRICK denied any knowledge of the depth of the pool in the area of the lifeguard chair. (R 37) He believed it to be 6 feet deep or more. (R 48) Although he and his family had been at the condominium complex for two full days prior to the incident, (R 34) MR. KENDRICK himself had spent less than 15 minutes in the pool. (R 34) He and his friend, Jimmy Bellow, described him as not being a "pool person"; he was someone who preferred to use the beach. (R 37, 88) One of the two days it rained. (R 149) The morning of the incident, he and his friend, Jimmy, had gone shopping with his mother-in-law and returned about 1:00 p.m. (R 41) He and Mr. Bellow took their children to the beach. (R 157) They also spent some time lounging around the pool. (R 41-43) The only time that he had spent in the pool was when he had gone wading with his daughter near the steps, and perhaps near the waterfall. (R 34) He wasn't sure whether he was in the pool that day, or the day before. (R 34) Neither was his wife. (R 142) Other witnesses were unsure as to when he had previously

entered the pool. Mrs. Colbert thought she had seen MR. KENDRICK in the pool the morning of July 30, 1985. (R 350) Neither Mrs. Mazer, nor her son, recalled ever seeing MR. KENDRICK in the pool before. (R 190; 287-288) MR. KENDRICK was not sure where the lifequard chairs were in relation to where he had walked with his daughter. (R 35) MR. KENDRICK did not know if there were diving boards in the pool. (R 37) In fact, he was not aware there was an island in the pool; he thought it was two distinct pools. (R 35) He did not recall ever seeing anyone else in the pool. (R 36) This is consistent with Stephen Mazer's observation that when he was in the pool, there was no one else in it. (R 287-288)

This was not a small pool. It was a free form pool (R 941, 942), which was described by the President of EBS as the largest swimming pool in the State of Florida at that time. (R 402)

MR. KENDRICK could not recall why he got on the lifeguard chair, nor does he recall getting on it. (R 44) He remembers being on the lifeguard chair and kidding with his friend, Jimmy. (R 44-45) MR. KENDRICK, who was nearsighted, (R 46-47) saw his friend, Jimmy, treading water some 30 feet away and believed that Jimmy was in water at least 6 feet deep. (R 44047) Unknown to MR. KENDRICK, his friend was kneeling on his knees in the water, or squatting down, and was in water only 3-1/2 feet deep. (R 97-101; 261) MR. KENDRICK believed he was diving into 6 feet of water for the additional reason that

he had never seen a lifeguard chair placed over water which was less than 6 feet deep. (R 45-46)

MR. KENDRICK then dove into a hostile and unnatural environment (R 671-672); he impacted the bottom of the pool in an unintended and unplanned manner. (R 592-594) He has no recollection of ever seeing the bottom of the pool. (R 48) The hidden danger existed because no matter how clear the water was, MR. KENDRICK could not see or appreciate those forces which could alter a dive from a safe dive into an unsafe dive. Most divers do not know that you can hit the bottom of the pool when you don't plan to. (R 611)

Although MR. KENDRICK participated in many sports, particularly basketball, he had no great experience in swimming or diving. (R 31-32) He didn't really like pools. (R 37) Although he doesn't recall why he climbed onto the lifeguard chair, he did not feel that he was violating any rules by doing so. (R57) He had not seen a lifeguard in the chair before, and testified that had there been one in the chair at that time, he wouldn't have gotten into it. (R 58)

VIII. CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL AS IT RELATES TO MR. KENDRICK'S USE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES:

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