IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND KENDRICK and SUSIE KENDRICK,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO.: 76,114

ED'S BEACH SERVICE, INC., et al,

DCA DOCKET NO: 89-2198

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CLIFFORD W. SANBORN BARRON, REDDING, HUGHES, FITE, BASSETT & FENSOM, P.A.
Post Office Box 2467
Panama City, FL 32402
(904) 785-7454 ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To establish a claim against EBS, it must be shown that EBS breached a duty owed to Mr. Kendrick and that the breach of duty was a proximate cause of the accident. The Kendricks allege EBS is liable for Mr. Kendrick's accident since its lifeguards failed to warn Mr. Kendrick of the danger of diving from a lifeguard tower into water three feet deep. Specifically, the Kendricks allege that adequate depth markers were not positioned around the pool and EBS's lifeguards should have advised Mr. Kendrick not to dive from the lifeguard tower. However, the trial court correctly determined that as a matter of law EBS is not liable for Mr. Kendrick's accident.

Under Florida law pertaining to premises liability claims, the owner or occupier of property must warn invitees of concealed, dangerous conditions which the owner or occupier is aware of and which the invitee is not aware of and could not become aware of through the exercise of reasonable care. The owner or occupier of property is not an insurer of invitees' safety and can assume that invitees will exercise reasonable care for their own safety. The undisputed facts in this case demonstrate that the water around the lifeguard tower was observably shallow to persons exercising reasonable care for their own safety, and Mr. Kendrick was aware at the time of the accident that diving into shallow water is

dangerous. Therefore, no duty existed to warn Mr. Kendrick of the danger of diving from the lifeguard tower.

In addition, Florida courts have concluded that summary judgments are appropriate against claimants who dive into water which is observably shallow and which contains no submerged or hidden object creating a concealed, hazardous condition. Even if it were assumed that EBS was negligent, the negligence of EBS merely provided an occasion for Mr. Kendrick's accident. Mr. Kendrick's negligent failure to exercise reasonable care for his own safety was a separate, intervening event which represents the sole proximate cause of the accident.

The trial court's summary judgment does not describe the theory upon which it is based. On review, the summary judgment is presumed to be correct and should be affirmed if it can be supported under any principle of law. EBS is entitled to a summary judgment since it had no duty to warn Raymond Kendrick of apparent dangers and the negligence of Raymond Kendrick is the sole proximate cause of the accident. Therefore, the summary judgment in favor of EBS and the decision of the First District should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

The motion for summary judgment filed by EBS is premised on alternative theories. One argument supporting the motion for summary judgment is that EBS did not have a duty to warn Mr. Kendrick of an apparent danger. The other basis for the motion for summary judgment is that Mr. Kendrick's negligence was the sole proximate cause of the accident. The summary judgment in favor of EBS is silent as to the theory upon which it is based.

On appeal, the petitioner has the burden of demonstrating from the record that the trial court committed reversible error in entering the judgment from which the appeal is filed. Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1979). Judgments of trial courts are presumed to be correct. Cohen v. Mohawk, Inc., 137 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 1962). In Mohawk, the Florida Supreme Court stated:

[3] It should be kept in mind that the judgment of the trial court reached the district court clothed with a presumption in favor of its validity. 1 Fla. Law and Practice, Appeals §152, 2 Fla.Jur, Appeals, § 314, and authorities cited therein. Accordingly, if upon the pleadings and evidence before the trial court, there was any theory or principle of law which would support the trial court's judgment in favor of the plaintiffs, the district court was obliged to affirm that judgment.

Id. at 225. Therefore, without regard to whether the rationale adopted by the trial court was correct, under <u>Applegate</u> and <u>Mohawk</u> the summary judgment and the decision of the First District should

be affirmed unless the Kendricks satisfy their burden of demonstrating that the summary judgment cannot be supported under any principle of law. The Kendricks' petition should be denied since the summary judgment was proper under either theory advanced by EBS.

I. ED'S BEACH SERVICE HAD NO DUTY TO WARN MR. KENDRICK OF APPARENT DANGER.

In order to recover from EBS, the Kendricks must prove: (1) EBS had a duty to protect Mr. Kendrick from the accident and injuries alleged in the complaint; (2) EBS failed to perform its duty; and (3) Mr. Kendrick's accident was caused by EBS's failure to perform its duty. Bondu v. Gurvich, 473 So. 2d 1307 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). Whether or not EBS had a duty to protect Mr. Kendrick from the accident is a question of law properly decided by the trial court. Bassett v. Edwards, 30 So. 2d 374 (Fla. 1947); Robertson v. Deak Perera (Miami), Inc., 396 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). 38 Fla. Jur 2d, Negligence §120 (1982).

Paragraphs 19(f) and 19(g) of the complaint allege:

- 19(f) The Defendants, and/or either of them, failed, or omitted, to post warning signs of the danger and hazards of diving from the side of the swimming pool and/or negligently and carelessly failed to provide lifeguards and personnel to warn persons of the danger of diving where the water was too shallow for safe diving.
- 19(g) The Defendants, and/or either of them, in

providing lifeguards and personnel to supervise the use of the pool, failed to provide sufficient personnel, and failed to provide personnel who were adequately trained, and the personnel in attempting to provide their services did so in a careless, reckless, or negligent manner.

The specific allegations being made against EBS are set forth in the Kendricks' answer to an interrogatory served on them by EBS requesting specification of all negligent acts and omissions of EBS which they contend contributed to the accident. In their answer, the Kendricks state:

stationed at a point that they could supervise persons diving into the pool. Ed's Beach Service failed to provide any restraints or restrictions on diving activities, failed to post adequate markers to show the depth of the water, failed to post warning signs of the dangers and hazards of diving in the pool, failed to provide a sufficient number of lifeguards who could warn of the dangers of diving into shallow areas of the pool, and failed to supervise the activities of lifeguards.

There is no allegation or evidence that any actions of the lifeguards after Mr. Kendrick's accident contributed to his injuries. Rather, the Kendricks are contending that EBS is liable for failure to issue different types of warnings to Mr. Kendrick. Therefore, the Kendricks' claim against EBS is premised on the existence of a duty owed by EBS to warn Mr. Kendrick not to dive from the lifeguard tower into water three feet deep.

It should be recognized that the Kendricks' contention that EBS should be held liable for not posting adequate warning signs and depth markers is without merit. Since EBS was not the owner of the pool, it would only have a duty to place warning signs and depth markers around the pool if it were required to do so under its agreement with Edgewater. Under the agreement, EBS was not responsible for placing signs or depth markers around the pool. (R. 843, Ap. Exhibit "A"; R. 459-464) Therefore, EBS cannot be held liable for failing to place adequate warning signs and depth markers around the pool.

The Kendricks argue that a duty to warn exists since EBS had a contract with Edgewater to enforce a "no diving" rule. However, on the negligence claim the existence of the contract between EBS and Edgewater is relevant only to the extent that it creates a duty on the part of EBS to use reasonable care for the safety of pool patrons. Navajo Circle, Inc. v. Development Concepts Corporation, 373 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979). In Navajo Circle, the court stated:

The duty owed by a defendant to a plaintiff may have sprung from a contractual promise made to another; however, the duty sued on in a negligence action is not the contractual promise but the duty to use reasonable care in affirmatively performing that promise. The duty exists independent of the contract.

Id. at 691. The court further stated:

Foreseeability, the standard of care, and the character of the risk are determined by the reasonable-man test. Geer v. Bennett, supra. . . . The defendant would be liable for the plaintiff's injury if the defendant's

affirmative conduct in performance of a contractual obligation to provide services to another was the proximate cause of a foreseeable injury.

<u>Id</u>. at 691. Under <u>Navajo Circle</u>, the extent to which EBS owed a duty to warn Mr. Kendrick of dangers on the premises is determined by application of the reasonable man test.

In Weimar v. Yacht Club Point Estates, Inc., 223 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), the plaintiff filed an action alleging he was the third party beneficiary of a contract breached by the defendant. The complaint also alleged a negligence claim arising from the contract breach. The trial court dismissed the complaint on grounds that it failed to state a cause of action against the defendant. The Fourth District affirmed the dismissal. With respect to the dismissal of the negligence action, the court based its decision on the fact that the complaint improperly relied upon the contract breach itself to state a cause of action for negligence. The court stated:

The true question in any case involving tort liability is "has the defendant committed a breach of duty apart from the contract". If he has only committed a breach of contract, he is liable only to those with whom he has contracted; but if he has committed a breach of duty apart from the contract, he is not protected by setting up a contract in respect of the same matter with another person. . . . Since there are no allegations of the breach of a duty apart or independent from the contract, privity of the contract must exist between the person charged with the negligence

and the person who has been injured by such breach.

Id. at 103. Under Weimar, whether or not EBS breached its contract with Edgewater is not dispositive of whether the Kendricks have a negligence claim against EBS. The contract between EBS and Edgewater places EBS in a position where it must use reasonable care for the safety of pool patrons. Whether or not EBS breached a duty which gives rise to a negligence claim is determined by the reasonable man standard applicable in premises liability cases.

Courts have consistently held that the duty owed by the owner or occupier of property to an invitee is to maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition and to warn invitees of concealed, dangerous conditions of which the owner is aware but which the invitee is unaware of and cannot discover through the exercise of reasonable care. Emmons v. Baptist Hospital, 478 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The First District Court of Appeal stated that:

Id. at 442. The court further stated that:

^{[1] . . .} In Florida, a landowner owes two duties to a business invitee: (1) to use reasonable care in maintaining the premises in a reasonably safe condition; and (2) to give the invitee warning of concealed perils which are or should be known to the landowner, and which are unknown to the invitee and cannot be discovered by him through the exercise of due care. Maldonado v. Jack M. Berry Grove Corp., 351 So. 2d 967, 970 (Fla. 1977); Cassel v. Price, 396 So. 2d 258, 264 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

^[2,3] Looking at the second theory first, it is clear that there was no concealed peril requiring the giving of a warning to the plaintiff

There is no duty on the part of the landowner to exercise such control over the business invitee or the premises so as to be an insurer of his safety.

Id. at 442. The Kendricks argue that "although not mentioned directly, the principles of assumption of risk were applied in the Emmons case". (Brief of Petitioner, p. 30) Contrary to the Kendricks' position, the judgment in Emmons is not based on principles of assumption of risk. Instead, the decision in Emmons is based on the fact that there was no duty on the part of the defendant to warn the plaintiff of apparent dangers. The same principle applies in all premises liability claims.

Florida courts have recognized that summary judgments are appropriate in premises liability cases when the undisputed evidence demonstrates that there was no concealed, dangerous condition to create a duty on the owner or occupier of property to take precautionary measures. K.G. v. Winter Springs Community Evangelical Congregational Church, 509 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); Clark v. Lumbermans Mutual Insurance Company, 465 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). In the K.G. case, the plaintiff filed a claim against the owner of property for injuries he sustained on the defendant's premises. It was alleged that the defendant should have warned the plaintiff of the condition which caused the injury. The trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of the defendant. On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed

after determining the defendant did not have a duty to warn since the plaintiff's injury was not caused by a concealed, dangerous condition.

In <u>Clark</u>, the plaintiff was severely injured when he dove into shallow river water while on a camping trip sponsored by the defendant church organization. The plaintiff alleged the defendant failed to properly supervise the trip and failed to warn him of the dangers associated with diving in the area where he injured himself. The trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of the defendant. On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed after concluding that, even if the defendant were held to the same standard of care as the owner of the premises, the defendant was entitled to a summary judgment since the danger was open and obvious to the plaintiff. Specifically, the court stated:

The harmful condition of the beach (assuming without accepting the correctness of this characterization by appellant) was recognized and hence was obvious to all who testified below. Therefore, no breach of duty occurred, since the "harmful condition" was in fact obvious to appellant, who undisputedly possessed sufficient maturity to appreciate the danger, and was not in a dependency relationship with the appellee church.

Id. at 555. In an attempt to distinguish <u>Clark</u>, the Kendricks argue that the summary judgment in that case was based in part on principles of assumption of risk even though the court did not specifically say so in its opinion. As in the <u>Emmons</u> case, the Kendricks are confusing the principles of assumption of risk with

the issue of whether or not a duty exists to warn persons of apparent dangers.

The owner or occupier of property may assume that invitees will use ordinary care for their own safety. Storr v. Proctor, 490 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). In Storr, the trial court granted a motion for summary judgment for the defendant in a premises liability claim. On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's summary judgment. In reaching its decision, the court stated:

An owner is entitled to assume that the invitee will perceive that which would be obvious to him upon the ordinary use of his own sense, and is not required to give the invitee notice or warning of an obvious danger.

Id. at 136. Under the sound reasoning of the <u>Clark</u>, <u>Emmons</u> and <u>Storr</u> cases, EBS is entitled to a summary judgment on all claims brought against it by the Kendricks since the testimony of all witnesses in this case demonstrates that, as a matter of law, the danger of diving from the lifeguard tower was open and obvious.

Mr. Kendrick admits he was aware of the danger of diving into shallow water. However, he assumed the water was six feet deep around the lifeguard tower. This assumption was based on the fact that a pool in which he had previously swam in Louisiana had a lifeguard chair by water that was six feet deep. (R. 53 and 54) Mr. Kendrick also saw Jimmy Bello's head above the water surface and assumed he was standing erect. Mr. Kendrick was not wearing

his glasses and could not see that Mr. Bello was crouching. (R. 46 and 47) Even if true, the testimony of Mr. Kendrick does not convert an obvious hazard into a concealed, dangerous condition.

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